

Publication 865.14 | December 2023

Quality Branch

|  |
| --- |
| Environmental auditor guidelines for appointment and conduct |



Authorised and published by the Victorian Government, 1 Treasury Place, Melbourne

epa.vic.gov.au

Environment Protection Authority Victoria

GPO BOX 4395 Melbourne VIC 3001

1300 372 84

This content is for general information only. Obtain professional advice if you have any specific concern. EPA Victoria has made reasonable effort to ensure accuracy at the time of publication. Except where noted at [epa.vic.gov.au/copyright](https://www.epa.vic.gov.au/copyright), all content in this work\* is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 Licence. To view a copy of this licence, visit [creativecommons.org](https://creativecommons.org/). EPA acknowledges Victoria’s First Nations peoples as the Traditional Owners of the land and water on which we live and work. We pay our respect to their Elders past and present.

****

Contents

[1. Purpose of this guideline 5](#_Toc153201708)

[1.1. Introduction 5](#_Toc153201709)

[1.2. Legal purpose 5](#_Toc153201710)

[1.3. Intended audience 5](#_Toc153201711)

[2. Definitions 5](#_Toc153201712)

[3. Functions of environmental auditors 6](#_Toc153201713)

[3.1. Prescribed functions of environmental auditors 6](#_Toc153201714)

[3.2. Functions – pursuant to any other Act 7](#_Toc153201715)

[4. Initial appointment – application process 7](#_Toc153201716)

[4.1. Advertisements 7](#_Toc153201717)

[4.2. Fees for applications 7](#_Toc153201718)

[4.3. Applications 7](#_Toc153201719)

[4.4. Other considerations 9](#_Toc153201720)

[4.5. Submitting an application 9](#_Toc153201721)

[4.6. Advisory Panel 9](#_Toc153201722)

[5. Initial appointment – selection process and appointment 10](#_Toc153201723)

[5.1. Examination and interview 10](#_Toc153201724)

[5.2. Appointment decisions 10](#_Toc153201725)

[5.3. Notice of appointment 10](#_Toc153201726)

[5.4. Initial period of appointment 11](#_Toc153201727)

[5.5. Categories 11](#_Toc153201728)

[5.6. Appointment fees 11](#_Toc153201729)

[5.7. Induction 11](#_Toc153201730)

[5.8. Unsuccessful applicants 12](#_Toc153201731)

[6. Reappointment of environmental auditors 12](#_Toc153201732)

[6.1. Application for reappointment 12](#_Toc153201733)

[6.2. Provision of evidence of contribution to audit system – during previous appointment 13](#_Toc153201734)

[6.3. Assessment 14](#_Toc153201735)

[6.4. Timing 14](#_Toc153201736)

[6.5. Decision 14](#_Toc153201737)

[6.6. Conditions of reappointment 15](#_Toc153201738)

[6.7. Reappointment fees 15](#_Toc153201739)

[6.8. Reappointment period 15](#_Toc153201740)

[6.9. Appointment lapsing 15](#_Toc153201741)

[7. Mutual recognition 16](#_Toc153201742)

[8. Revocation or suspension of appointment 17](#_Toc153201743)

[9. Maintenance of appointment 18](#_Toc153201744)

[9.1. Environmental auditor’s responsibilities – change in circumstances 18](#_Toc153201745)

[9.2. Environmental auditor’s responsibilities – Annual Auditor Statements 18](#_Toc153201746)

[10. Environmental auditor - conduct 19](#_Toc153201747)

[10.1. Independence of the environmental auditor 20](#_Toc153201748)

[10.2. Imminent state of danger 21](#_Toc153201749)

[10.3. Duty to notify of contaminated land 23](#_Toc153201750)

[11. Quality assurance program 23](#_Toc153201751)

[11.1. Compliance with the Act 23](#_Toc153201752)

[11.2. Compliance with guidelines 24](#_Toc153201753)

[11.3. Performance in statutory works under other Acts 24](#_Toc153201754)

[12. Complaints and environmental auditor appointment reviews 25](#_Toc153201755)

[12.1. Overview of review(s) processes 25](#_Toc153201756)

[13. Contact details and further information 26](#_Toc153201757)

[Appendix A – Requirements for contaminated land category 27](#_Toc153201758)

[Appendix B – Requirements for industrial facilities category 30](#_Toc153201759)

[Appendix C – Requirements for other categories 31](#_Toc153201760)

[Appendix D – Expertise required for contaminated land 32](#_Toc153201761)

[Appendix E – Expertise required for industrial facilities 48](#_Toc153201762)

# Purpose of this guideline

## Introduction

This guideline has been prepared under s203 of the *Environment Protection Act 2017* (‘the Act’) to provide information regarding the process to appoint environmental auditors, reappoint environmental auditors and environmental auditor conduct. This guideline includes information on the process for initial environmental auditor applications, EPA approving or refusing an application, suspending or revoking appointments, applying additional conditions and environmental auditor reappointment.

These guidelines should be read in conjunction with the Act and other environmental auditor guidelines published by EPA.

## Legal purpose

Section 190(2) of the Act requires an environmental auditor to have regard to this guideline and other guidelines issued under s203, any relevant Environment Reference Standard (ERS), any relevant compliance codes and any prescribed matter when carrying out any function of an environmental auditor under this or any other Act.

Failure to give proper regard to these guidelines may:

* be considered by EPA in determining whether to reappoint a person as an environmental auditor
* provide grounds to review the appointment of an environmental auditor.

## Intended audience

This guideline has been prepared for environmental auditors and may also be useful for other parties who are required to engage an environmental auditor, including:

* planning and other statutory authorities
* recipients of a notice, direction or other instrument issued pursuant to the Act (requiring the recipient to engage an environmental auditor).

EPA may provide specific guidance to environmental auditors or duty holders as requested to clarify any provisions in these guidelines.

# Definitions

Unless the context requires otherwise, an expression or phrase that is used in these guidelines and in the Act has, in these guidelines, the same meaning as in the Act (whether or not a particular meaning is assigned to it in the Act).

Unless otherwise stated, the term:

1. **‘environmental auditor’** refers to a person appointed as an environmental auditor under Division 1 of Part 8.3 of the Act
2. **‘environmental audit’** refers to an environmental audit undertaken in accordance with Division 3 of Part 8.3 of the Act
3. **‘preliminary risk screen assessment’** refers to a preliminary risk screen assessment undertaken in accordance with Division 2 of Part 8.3 of the Act.

# Functions of environmental auditors

Under s190 of the Act, environmental auditors are appointed to carry out the following functions:

* conduct preliminary risk screen assessments and environmental audits
* prepare preliminary risk screen assessment statements and preliminary risk screen assessment reports
* prepare environmental audit statements and environmental audit reports
* perform any function conferred on an environmental auditor under this or any other Act[[1]](#footnote-2)
* perform any prescribed function of an environmental auditor (see sections 3.1 and 3.2 below).

When exercising functions and duties pursuant to the Act or any other Acts, an environmental auditor is expected to act in a manner consistent with the Act and any other legislation. The expected conduct of an environmental auditor is described in s10 of this guideline.

EPA may appoint individuals to one or more categories of environmental auditor, as described in the attached appendices.

EPA oversees the quality of environmental auditing as set out in these guidelines.

## Prescribed functions of environmental auditors

Regulation 164 of the Environment Protection Regulations 2021 (the Regulations) lists that for the purposes of s190(1)(d) of the Act, the prescribed functions of an environmental auditor are:

1. to verify actions and measures undertaken to comply with any of the following (including conducting any relevant tests and analysis):
   * 1. a notice issued under ss271, 272, 273 or 274 of the Act[[2]](#footnote-3)
     2. an order issued under s275 of the Act[[3]](#footnote-4)
     3. a condition of a permission
     4. guidelines issued by EPA under the Act
        + Example: To verify whether or not a monitoring plan required under an environmental action notice has been implemented in accordance with the plan, the environmental auditor may undertake a site inspection, assess sampling and analysis procedures against relevant guidelines issued by EPA and audit a representative sample of monitoring data
2. to undertake an independent assessment under s222 of the Act of a matter contained in the prescribed risk assessment criteria where the method for calculating financial assurance amounts published under s223 of the Act provides that the assessment may be conducted by an environmental auditor
3. to perform any function conferred on an environmental auditor under a legislative instrument made under any Act
4. any function approved by EPA in accordance with r165.

EPA may update or provide additional guidance in relation to verification functions. For example, in relation to permissions, Landfill licensing EPA publication (1323.3) details requirements for environmental auditors to conduct a variety of functions in relation to landfill permission requirements.

## Functions – pursuant to any other Act

Environmental auditors may be called upon to undertake functions or duties detailed in other legislation or legal instruments.

Prior to offering to undertake any of these functions, the environmental auditor must ensure:

1. that there is a legislative instrument that clearly confers the function to an environmental auditor, before engaging in that work
2. the function falls within the environmental auditor’s area of expertise or competency
3. their involvement will not result in a conflict of interest
4. they have all required approvals from the responsible Authority(ies)
5. they meet all requirements including any special requirements specified within EPA guidance, or any special requirements specified by the responsible Authority(s).

# Initial appointment – application process

Section 191 of the Act provides that a natural person may make an application to EPA for appointment as an environmental auditor. An application must be made in the approved manner and form, provide any required information and be accompanied by any prescribed application fee (unless the person has been exempted).

## Advertisements

EPA will advertise its intent to appoint environmental auditors and call for applications.

## Fees for applications

An application fee is required to be paid when submitting an application to become an appointed environmental auditor (unless the applicant has been granted an exemption).[[4]](#footnote-5) The application fee is not refundable in the case where EPA refuses to appoint the applicant as an environmental auditor. Refer to s191 of the Act and r206(1) of the Regulations for further information.

An additional fee must be paid under r206(2) of the Regulations if EPA approves the application for appointment. Refer to section 5.6 for further information.

## Applications

The application forms will be published on the EPA website and will outline the manner and form for application and category of appointment. Information on different types of categories is provided in Appendices A-E. The applicant will be required to provide:

1. evidence of relevant qualification(s) (for example, a relevant bachelor’s degree awarded by a recognised tertiary institution)
2. current, detailed curriculum vitae
3. details and evidence of a minimum of three years training that demonstrates commitment to ongoing training and professional development relevant to the technical competencies of the category of appointment
4. demonstrated maintenance of up-to-date knowledge in the scientific, technical, regulatory, and legal fields relevant to the category of appointment
5. evidence of individual membership of and/or accreditation from one or more relevant professional associations
6. demonstrated knowledge and understanding of relevant provisions of the Act plus associated statutory policies, regulations, and guidelines relevant to the category of appointment
7. demonstrated thorough understanding of the principles of, and methods for, conducting environmental audits
8. demonstrated environmental ‘audit like’ experience (for example providing a supporting role to an environmental auditor, review of technical reports or a quality assurance function) relevant to the category of appointment
9. demonstrated proficiency, experience, and expertise of the applicant (and/or expert support team) in the areas listed in the attached appendices of these guidelines for the category of appointment
10. demonstrated evidence of the applicant’s ability to exercise professional judgment, reach opinions independently and have not been unduly influenced by views or actions of others
11. an undertaking from the applicant that they will obtain, or that their employer will obtain on the applicant’s behalf, adequate professional indemnity insurance prior to offering auditing services
12. full disclosure of any circumstances that may affect the applicant’s independence or objectivity in acting as an environmental auditor appointed pursuant to the Act
13. satisfactory referee checks from at least two referees, one of whom is not directly associated with the applicant or the company employing the applicant while the second one is to be directly associated. Referees are to have direct and recent (up to three years) knowledge of the applicant and can confirm the applicant’s experience and expertise
14. satisfactory National Police Records Check to be submitted with the application.

The applicant needs to demonstrate more than eight years’ experience relating to the category of appointment. This must include at least:

* + 1. three years’ experience in environmental or industrial facility assessment and ‘audit like[[5]](#footnote-6)’ work
    2. two years of relevant work in Australia
    3. experience as a project manager involving a multidisciplinary team approach in an area relevant to the category of appointment
    4. experience in the production of reports that demonstrate expertise in the category of appointment is sought.

The applicant must nominate an expert support team and specify for what areas outlined in the attached appendix that the expert support team will be drawn upon. The capabilities of expert support personnel must be demonstrated and available at any time at EPA’s request. Expert support team members should have relevant qualifications and a minimum of eight years expertise in the areas nominated. The applicant is to provide the following for each expert support team member:

1. a current, detailed curriculum vitae demonstrating expertise in the area(s) nominated including:
   * a degree and/or equivalent qualification relevant to an area of expertise claimed
   * have a thorough knowledge and understanding of relevant Australian guidelines and policies
   * clearly demonstrated and detailed description of relevant project experience in the area of expertise claimed
   * number of years of relevant experience in the expertise claimed
   * membership of a professional association relevant to the area of expertise claimed
   * be currently working in the field of expertise
2. listing of any relevant publications
3. a signed agreement to provide expert support from nominated team members who are not employed by the same company as the applicant. The area of expertise in which support will be provided must be clearly indicated.

## Other considerations

In addition to satisfying the requirements for the relevant category, the applicant must be able to demonstrate a sound understanding of all mandatory requirements of s190(2) of the Act. These are:

1. any guidelines issued by the EPA under s203
2. any relevant environment reference standard made under Part 5.2 of the Act
3. any relevant compliance code made under Part 5.3 of the Act
4. any matter prescribed in the Regulations.

## Submitting an application

Applications for appointment must be submitted through the EPA portal, with the inclusion of all required documents and payment of the application fee prescribed under regulation 206(1) of the Regulations.

EPA may request additional information or seek clarification in relation to the applicant’s submission.

## Advisory Panel

Under ss192 and 235 of the Act, EPA may appoint an advisory panel to advise on the appointment process. The function of an advisory panel is to:

* make recommendations regarding the suitability of an applicant for appointment as an environmental auditor
* provide any other advice to EPA as requested
* have regard to this guideline, and any other guidelines issued under s203 of the Act.

EPA may appoint any person to be a member of the advisory panel if satisfied that the person has the appropriate level of expert knowledge, skills or experience[[6]](#footnote-7), and will also appoint a chairperson. EPA must have regard to, but is not bound by, any advice provided by the advisory panel[[7]](#footnote-8).

# Initial appointment – selection process and appointment

The selection process will be a staged process in the following order:

1. written application
2. examination
3. interview
4. appointment of successful applicants.

The interview can be by an advisory panel[[8]](#footnote-9). EPA can request further information at any stage of the process and will decide at each stage whether an applicant will proceed further.

## Examination and interview

The examination and interview will focus on legislative, technical and policy aspects of environmental auditing. The applicant will be assessed based on their demonstrated understanding and knowledge, including, but not limited to, the following:

* legislative understanding
* auditing skills
* technical competencies.

## Appointment decisions

EPA may appoint or refuse to appoint an applicant in accordance with s191 of the Act. In determining whether to approve or refuse an application EPA will have regard to:

* the application provided by the applicant and that this is in accordance with the manner and form specified in the application form
* any information sought by EPA to be provided by the applicant at any stage of the appointment process
* that the prescribed application fee has been paid, unless there has been an exemption granted[[9]](#footnote-10)
* any recommendations made by an advisory panel
* examination and/or interview (if applicable)
* any relevant guidelines issued under s203 of the Act
* any prescribed matter.

## Notice of appointment

If EPA decides to approve an application for appointment the applicant will be notified by written Notice of Appointment.

Section 197 of the Act provides that EPA can appoint a person as an environmental auditor:

* unconditionally
* subject to conditions specified in the environmental auditor’s instrument of appointment
* subject to any prescribed conditions

The appointment will specify the category of appointment and is subject to all the below:

* compliance with the Act
* the Regulations
* any guidelines issued under s203 of the Act.

EPA may, at any time, by written notice impose conditions or further conditions on the appointment or revoke any conditions to which the appointment is subject[[10]](#footnote-11). When deciding whether to impose, vary or revoke conditions on the appointment of an environmental auditor EPA will have regard to any guidelines issued under s203 of the Act.

## Initial period of appointment

The period of appointment will not exceed 3 years and may, at EPA’s discretion, be less. The period of appointment will be included in the written Notice of Appointment[[11]](#footnote-12). Should the initial appointment be subject to any conditions these will take effect on the date specified by EPA or the date on which the environmental auditor is notified, whichever is the latter.

## Categories

At the present time EPA appoint environmental auditors in three categories:

* **Contaminated land:** this is land that has been contaminated by historic or current activities that may present risks to human health and the environment. This may require remediation and clean-up of contaminations
* **Industrial facilities:** this is activity-based and includes industrial processes, the storage of chemicals or wastes, and the management of commercial/industrial sites which may present risks to human health and the environment.
* **Natural resources:** this is activity-based, with the focus on assessing the risk of harm to human health or the environment from the management of natural resources (e.g., forestry and timber harvesting).

EPA may create future categories or remove categories as they are required. An environmental auditor can only conduct environmental audits within the category or categories specified in their Notice of Appointment.

## Appointment fees

Upon appointment a further fee of 512.99 fee units is payable, as per r206(2).

## Induction

EPA will conduct an induction session for successful applicants.

## Unsuccessful applicants

EPA will give unsuccessful applicants written notice of proposed refusal, including reasons. An applicant may, within 28 days or receiving notice of proposed refusal, make submissions requesting reconsideration[[12]](#footnote-13), setting out grounds in terms of the assessment requirements contained in the appendices of these guidelines, examination and/or interview (if applicable) and the application form.

EPA may refuse an application for appointment when it has given the applicant written notice of proposed refusal, a reasonable opportunity to make submissions requesting reconsideration, and has taken any submissions made by the applicant into consideration. EPA will notify unsuccessful applicants of the final decision in writing[[13]](#footnote-14).

# Reappointment of environmental auditors

An environmental auditor appointment is for a finite period, not exceeding three years. Environmental auditors who wish to continue their appointment as an environmental auditor are to apply for reappointment as detailed below. In the reappointment assessment process, EPA will consider information presented within the application, review outcomes of the environmental auditor’s work and any issues or complaints.

## Application for reappointment

Applications for reappointment are to be submitted through the EPA portal.

The environmental auditor is to complete the [reappointment application form (form F1034)](https://www.epa.vic.gov.au/about-epa/publications/f1034) provided by EPA. The environmental auditor must also supply all the following information:

* an undertaking to maintain the environmental auditor’s expert support team in accordance with the expectations set out in these guidelines
* full disclosure of any circumstances that may affect the applicant’s independence or objectivity in acting as an environmental auditor appointed pursuant to the Act (the application form requires a signed declaration to this effect)
* an undertaking to maintain professional indemnity insurance (as set out in section 4.3 (xiv) of these guidelines)
* a current satisfactory National Police Records Check.

An application for reappointment is to also be accompanied by the prescribed application fee. See r207(1) of the Regulations for details of this fee.

A further fee is payable under r207(2) of the Regulations if EPA approves the application.

If the application is not complete and properly submitted, an appointment may lapse (refer to section 6.9).

## Provision of evidence of contribution to audit system – during previous appointment

When submitting an application for reappointment, the environmental auditor is required to provide evidence of work completed within the functions set out in s190 of the Act. Conducting environmental audits and the preparation of environmental audit statements and environmental audit reports remains a primary function of environmental auditors. Environmental audits are the main evidence an environmental auditor is contributing to the Victorian audit system and is the preferred indicator the environmental auditor can provide to prove their competency and understanding of Victorian environmental legislation.

The requirements for demonstrating sufficient evidence of contribution to the audit system is:

* evidence of completion of two or more environmental audit reports or preliminary risk screen assessments; or
* evidence of completion of one environmental audit report or preliminary risk screen assessment and additional information supplied as outlined below.

If an environmental auditor has completed only one environmental audit report or preliminary risk screen assessment during their last period of appointment they can identify one or more additional reports[[14]](#footnote-15) which demonstrate:

* 1. technical and environmental auditing competence through work of equivalent professional standing, including but not limited to environmental audits performed in another jurisdiction(s)
  2. formal justification of why there was no auditing work conducted during the appointment term, such as being outbid for work, personal reasons, travel commitments
  3. sufficient understanding of relevant Victorian environmental legislation, policy, regulations, and guidelines.

An environmental auditor who has not completed any preliminary risk screen assessments or environmental audits in Victoria in the preceding period of appointment may not be eligible for reappointment. Prior to proceeding with their application, they must contact the Manager Environmental Audit at EPA via [environmental.audit@epa.vic.gov.au](mailto:environmental.audit@epa.vic.gov.au) to schedule a meeting to discuss how to progress with their reappointment application. EPA may consider other work in relation to performing other functions conferred on them in their capacity as an environmental auditor and may request additional information in relation to that work. The applicant may be required to provide the following information:

* minimum of two reports of equivalent professional standing
* provide a written statement demonstrating understanding of the obligations of an environmental auditor and of Victoria’s legislation
* attend an interview
* provide referees who have direct and recent (up to three years) knowledge of the applicant and can confirm the applicant’s experience and expertise
* provide a statement outlining the reason for not completing any environmental audit or preliminary risk screen assessment reports during their last reappointment period.

## Assessment

To reappoint an environmental auditor, EPA must be satisfied that all work completed by the auditor is of a satisfactory standard, including environmental audits and any other statutory work conducted pursuant to the Act or any other Act.

In assessing a reappointment application, EPA will consider the information provided in support of the application and review all information compiled from quality assurance reviews carried out during the previous period of appointment. Where applicable, EPA will seek comments on the environmental auditor’s performance in other statutory work conducted pursuant to any other Act from the relevant government agencies and other jurisdictions. All assessments will be subject to an internal peer review.

If outstanding performance issues are identified, EPA will write to the environmental auditor to advise of the issues and invite written submissions for its consideration.

Where all matters related to the environmental auditor’s conduct and quality of work are deemed to be satisfactory – including resolution of any issues identified – EPA may reappoint the environmental auditor, subject to conditions where appropriate.

If one or more of the outstanding issues are not satisfied, EPA may refuse the application for reappointment as environmental auditor. Refer to section 6.5 of these guidelines.

## Timing

As prescribed by r166, applications for reappointment must be received within the period commencing 12 weeks prior to the expiry of the environmental auditor’s current appointment and ending 8 weeks prior to the expiry of the appointment. This is to allow time for assessment of the application. Applications submitted later than this may result in EPA refusing to assess the application or the environmental auditor’s appointment lapsing.

Applications received after an environmental auditor’s appointment has lapsed will not be accepted unless prior agreement with EPA is confirmed in writing. Where an environmental auditor’s appointment has lapsed and there is no prior agreement in place, a person may reapply through the initial appointment process.

## Decision

EPA may refuse an application for reappointment if not satisfied of the matters detailed in section 6.3 or other relevant considerations including but not limited to any formal disciplinary action taken against the environmental auditor under the Act.

EPA will provide written notice of intent to refuse an application for reappointment, including the reasons[[15]](#footnote-16), and will provide opportunity to make submissions in relation to the proposed refusal. Submissions received will be taken into consideration prior to making a final decision[[16]](#footnote-17). Any submission should be lodged within 28 days from the date of notice of intent.

## Conditions of reappointment

EPA may appoint a person as an environmental auditor either unconditionally or subject to conditions specified in the environmental auditor's instrument of appointment or to any prescribed conditions. At any time during appointment, EPA may by written notice either –

1. impose conditions or further conditions on the appointment
2. vary or revoke any of the conditions to which the appointment is subject.

EPA will formally discuss the grounds of the conditions with the environmental auditor. Prior to finalising the reappointment with special conditions, the Manager Environmental Audit will contact the environmental auditor via [environmental.audit@epa.vic.gov.au](mailto:environmental.audit@epa.vic.gov.au) to schedule a meeting to discuss the conditions.

## Reappointment fees

There are two fees associated with reappointments:

* a prescribed application fee, as described in r207(1) of the Regulations. The application fee invoice is generated when the application is submitted through the EPA portal, with applicants given the option to pay when the application is lodged, or to pay the invoice within 30 days. Please note that applications for reappointment cannot be approved until the fee is paid and as such it is recommended to pay the application fee when lodging the application
* an appointment fee is required as a condition of reappointment (see r207(2) of the Regulations). The appointment fee invoice is sent to the auditor with their newly generated instrument of appointment and cover letter, the appointment invoice must be paid within 30 days.

## Reappointment period

EPA may appoint environmental auditors up to 3 years where an environmental auditor:

* is actively participating in environmental audit system as provided for in part 8.3 of the Act
* consistently presents work of a high standard
* is not the subject of current conduct or quality concerns or formal complaints.

However, EPA may choose to appoint environmental auditors for a shorter period of appointment at its discretion.

## Appointment lapsing

If an environmental auditor’s appointment lapses, then they are no longer an environmental auditor appointed pursuant to the Act and they must not:

* act in the capacity of an environmental auditor appointed pursuant to the Act
* perform, or propose to perform, any function allowed for under s 190 of the Act
* hold themselves out to be an environmental auditor appointed pursuant to the Act.

# Mutual recognition

Under s17(1)(a) of the federal *Mutual Recognition Act 1992* (Commonwealth) (the MRA), a person who is registered in one state[[17]](#footnote-18) for an occupation can be entitled to be registered in an equivalent occupation in another state. Under the MRA, EPA is required to consider a written notice lodged by an environmental auditor appointed under equivalent systems in other jurisdictions who seek registration as an environmental auditor in Victoria.

A written notice lodged with EPA for appointment as an environmental auditor under the MRA must be made in writing, in accordance with s19 of that Act.

The written notice should be lodged, with a completed form through the EPA portal, with the inclusion of all required information.

EPA may permit the written notice and form to be amended after it is lodged.

The person who lodges the written notice will receive notification of EPA’s decision in accordance with these guidelines and s24 of the MRA.

An appointed environmental auditor will receive a Notice of Appointment as outlined in section 5.3 of these guidelines, the period of appointment will be as outlined in section 5.4 of these guidelines, and the requirement for the payment of fees will be as outlined in section 5.5 of these guidelines.

A person may also be entitled to automatic deemed registration under the MRA, as per s42D(3):

*The registration (or registrations) the person has because of subsection (2)* [of section 42D] *is automatic deemed registration, which has effect once the person: (a) meets any requirements covered by paragraphs (4)(f) to (h); or (b) if no such requirements apply–begins to carry on the activity in the second State.*

For the purposes of carrying on the activity in the second State, the person is taken to be registered in the second State for the second State occupation and to have any additional registration required to carry on the activity in the second State.

This does not authorise the person to carry on every activity in the second State covered by the second State occupation. Automatic deemed registration authorises in the second State only activities the person is authorised to carry on in their home State.

An environmental auditor who intends to carry on an activity in Victoria in reliance on automatic deemed registration must notify the EPA prior to beginning to carry on that activity.

Victorian environmental auditors wishing to take advantage of AMR in another state or territory will need to confirm if the state or territory they wish to work in has entered the AMR scheme. This information is available through the Australian Government web site at [Improving occupational mobility](https://www.regulatoryreform.gov.au/priorities/improving-occupational-mobility). Victorian environmental auditors who wish to rely on AMR in another state or territory are advised to confirm any specific requirements with the relevant authority for that state or territory.

Further general information about Victoria's implementation of AMR is available from the [Department of Treasury and Finance](https://www.dtf.vic.gov.au/funds-programs-and-policies/automatic-mutual-recognition-occupational-licensing).

# Revocation or suspension of appointment

EPA may suspend or revoke an appointment if the environmental auditor has not satisfied the requirements of these guidelines in relation to eligibility for appointment as an environmental auditor.

EPA may also suspend or revoke the appointment of an environmental auditor if any of the below occurs:

* the environmental auditor has contravened the Act, the Regulations; or a condition of the environmental auditor's appointment
* the environmental auditor is not carrying out a sufficient amount of preliminary risk screen assessments or environmental audits to justify continued appointment as an environmental auditor
* the environmental auditor is appointed as an environmental auditor in another jurisdiction and that appointment has been changed because of conduct that would (if it occurred in Victoria) authorise revocation or suspension of the environmental auditor's appointment under the Act
* the environmental auditor provided false or misleading information to EPA in an application for appointment or reappointment
* the environmental auditor has contravened a prescribed matter
* the suspension or revocation of the appointment is justified having regard to:
  + the quality of the environmental auditor's work in relation to preliminary risk screen assessments or environmental audits conducted during the environmental auditor's appointment
  + o the quality of the environmental auditor's work in relation to any prescribed function of an environmental auditor
  + any other matter that EPA considers to be relevant to the environmental
  + auditor's suitability for appointment.
* a conflict of interest circumstance referred to in s200(1)(h) of the Act is present[[18]](#footnote-19).

EPA will not suspend or revoke the appointment of an environmental auditor without first giving written notice of intention and giving the environmental auditor a reasonable opportunity to make a submission[[19]](#footnote-20).

EPA may suspend an environmental auditor’s appointment for a specified period, until the fulfilment of specified conditions, or until further notice by EPA[[20]](#footnote-21). EPA may revoke the appointment of an environmental auditor who is suspended[[21]](#footnote-22).

The date the suspension or revocation takes effect is that specified on the notice, or the date on which EPA notifies the environmental auditor of the suspension, whichever is the later. If a period of suspension or revocation is not specified, the suspension or revocation ends on the date EPA notifies the environmental auditor that the appointment has been reinstated or revoked.

During the period of suspension an environmental auditor must not:

* act in the capacity of an environmental auditor appointed pursuant to the Act
* undertake, or propose to undertake, any environmental audit work
* hold themselves out to be an environmental auditor currently appointed pursuant to the Act.

# Maintenance of appointment

## Environmental auditor’s responsibilities – change in circumstances

An environmental auditor must notify EPA at least 10 business days in advance of any change in circumstances relevant to their appointment. Changes include the environmental auditor’s employment status such as a temporary change and any complaints or disciplinary action received while acting as an environmental auditor in other jurisdictions. The minimum advance notice of 10 business days may be exempted if the change is due to unforeseeable circumstances.

An environmental auditor is to provide appropriate supporting material when notifying EPA of a change in circumstances, which will then be assessed.

Where the change in circumstances is significant and/or is non-compliant with an environmental auditor’s appointment conditions, EPA may review an appointment. Alternatively, EPA may note that the change does not affect the environmental auditor’s appointment. EPA will then advise the environmental auditor of the assessment result.

Where EPA advises the environmental auditor that the notified changes are not acceptable and will result in non-compliance with the environmental auditor’s appointment conditions, the environmental auditor must either withdraw the changes or make further changes for re-assessment by EPA.

## Environmental auditor’s responsibilities – Annual Auditor Statements

By 30 September each year, environmental auditors are to submit to EPA an Annual Auditor Statement detailing their work carried out in the previous financial year, which may be used as evidence of contribution to the audit system and the Victorian community.This statement should also include professional development activities and any required self-assessment of compliance. The Annual Auditor Statement is to be completed on the form provided to environmental auditors. EPA uses the information contained in Annual Auditor Statements to assist with the ongoing development of the environmental audit system and to supplement the review of environmental auditors’ reappointment applications. The Annual Auditor Statement is to be submitted on the due date to the following email: [EAappointments@epa.vic.gov.au](mailto:EAappointments@epa.vic.gov.au)

# Environmental auditor - conduct

EPA expects that environmental auditors work actively and carry out their statutory functions.

The requirements for demonstrating sufficient evidence of contribution to the audit system is done by either:

* evidence of completion of two or more environmental audit reports or preliminary risk screen assessments
* evidence of completion of one environmental audit report or preliminary risk screen assessment and additional information supplied as outlined in section 6.2 of this guideline.

EPA may also review the quality of work completed under other functions of an environmental auditor, such as verifications. An environmental auditor is expected to adhere to all statutory timeframes, for example the prescribed timeframe in relation to reappointment applications.

An environmental auditor, when carrying out any function under the Act or any other Act, must never do any of the following:

1. provide false or misleading information to EPA in an application for appointment or reappointment
2. issue an environmental audit statement that is false or misleading
3. issue a preliminary risk screen assessment statement that is false or misleading
4. issue any other document that is false or misleading
5. issue an environmental audit statement without first preparing an environmental audit report
6. issue a preliminary risk screen assessment statement without first preparing a preliminary risk screen assessment report.

An environmental auditor must do all the below:

1. notify EPA within five business days of receiving a request to conduct an environmental audit[[22]](#footnote-23)
2. before conducting an environmental audit, submit a proposed scope of the audit to EPA, refer to EPA Publication 2041 *Guidelines for conducting environmental audits[[23]](#footnote-24)*
3. provide EPA (and, if the environmental audit relates to a risk of harm to human health or the environment from contaminated land or potentially contaminated land or if required by EPA: the relevant planning authority and responsible authority within the meaning of the *Planning and Environment Act 1987*), with a copy of the environmental audit report and environmental audit statement within five business days of completion[[24]](#footnote-25)
4. provide EPA and the relevant planning authority and responsible authority within the meaning of the *Planning and Environment Act 1987* with a copy of the preliminary risk screen assessment statement and the preliminary risk screen assessment report within 5 business days of completion[[25]](#footnote-26).

In addition, an environmental auditor must:

1. employ assessment methods and approaches consistent with good practice for environmental auditing
2. exercise due care, diligence and professional judgment, to the standard which may be reasonably expected of qualified and experienced environmental professionals who are performing duties conferred upon them by the Act or any other Act, such as occupational health and safety
3. conduct environmental audits and other statutory works pursuant to the Act or any other Act in accordance with the guidelines for environmental auditors (s203 of the Act), other guidelines approved by EPA or by other government agencies
4. act always in a professional manner, upholding the independence and integrity of the environmental audit system
5. offer services only in areas of their competence and only perform environmental audits and exercise powers that are relevant to the category/ies of environmental audit to which their appointment relates
6. utilise an expert support team in their respective fields of expertise in accordance with these guidelines
7. ensure that any reports, statements or documents which they provide pursuant to the Act or any other Act are an accurate record of soundly based observations and of logical deductions;
8. continue to develop relevant knowledge, skills and expertise and actively assist and encourage those under their direction to do likewise.

An environmental auditor may use the title of *‘Environmental Auditor (appointed pursuant to the Environment Protection Act 2017)’* to do the following:

* sign environmental audit reports, environmental audit statements, and documents prepared carrying out functions pursuant to the Act or any other Acts
* in marketing material or project proposals that directly relates to the functions of the Environmental auditor[[26]](#footnote-27).

An environmental auditor is not to use that title to sign any other documents or marketing of work not done in the capacity as an environmental auditor.[[27]](#footnote-28)

Note: An environmental auditor appointed pursuant to Part 8.3 of the Act who undertakes an environmental audit in a jurisdiction other than Victoria should make themselves familiar with the relevant legislation, regulations, and guidelines in that jurisdiction(s). EPA may consider environmental audit work performed in another jurisdiction in any future reappointment assessment of an environmental auditor.

## Independence of the environmental auditor

An environmental auditor carrying out any function under the Act or any other Act must be able to demonstrate a sufficient level of independence from their client to satisfy a reasonable person that the outcome of their work when performing any auditor function, including environmental audits and preliminary risk screen assessments, will not be influenced by the relationship with the client or potential benefits to the environmental auditor or the company for which they work. The environmental auditor must also consider the independence of any expert support team member(s) relied on when carrying out any function under the Act.

EPA expects environmental auditors to avoid any situation in which they (or their employer) have entered into any agreement or arrangement that may be reasonably perceived to constitute a conflict of interest.

An environmental auditor should not act as an advocate for the site or activity being audited. An environmental auditor is expected to be able to demonstrate a professional detachment from the subject of their work, in particular environmental audits, and preliminary risk screen assessments.

When an environmental auditor is conducting a preliminary risk screen assessment or an environmental audit there may be grounds for EPA to assess and implement suspension and/or revocation of appointment if any of the below circumstances apply:

* the environmental auditor is an associate of the person who is undertaking the activity or who owns or occupies any part of the site that is the subject of the environmental audit, or preliminary risk screen assessment
* the environmental auditor has a direct or indirect pecuniary or personal interest in any part of the activity or the site that is the subject of the environmental audit, or the preliminary risk screen assessment
* the environmental audit or the preliminary risk screen assessment conducted by the environmental auditor involves the environmental auditor reviewing any aspect of work previously carried out by the environmental auditor or an associate of the environmental auditor or a statement or report previously prepared by the environmental auditor or an associate of the environmental auditor[[28]](#footnote-29).

An ‘associate’ of the environmental auditor is a person who the environmental auditor is closely connected with including, but not limited to, colleagues at work, partners in business, friends, and family.

It is the responsibility of the environmental auditor to ensure that they maintain their own professional independence.

In addition to the above, further circumstances where a perceived or actual conflict of interest may arise, specific additional guidance may be provided; for example, EPA Publication 1323 *Landfill Licensing* includes discussion and expectations in addition to the above, in relation to multiple expected environmental auditor functions.

The environmental auditor may seek EPA guidance when it is considered unclear if their current circumstances may be reasonably perceived to constitute a conflict of interest.

## Imminent state of danger

Some contaminants can pose imminent or immediate risks of harm due to their toxicity, pathogenicity, flammability, or explosivity, particularly when present at higher concentrations.

In these instances, it may not be appropriate to follow the Preliminary Site Investigation, Detailed Site Investigation and risk assessment process to fully characterise the issue before acting. Instead, an ‘outside-in’ approach should be taken, where impacted receptors are identified and actions to mitigate exposure are prioritised.

When carrying out any function under the Act or any other Act, section 216 of the Act requires environmental auditors to notify EPA of an imminent state of danger to human health or the environment from pollution and waste as soon as practicable after becoming aware.

The above requirement also relates to any circumstance, which if not addressed, are likely to become an imminent state of danger to human health or the environment from pollution or waste.

EPA expect that an environmental auditor is familiar with and understands EPA’s information on responding to emergency and urgent situations: <https://www.epa.vic.gov.au/about-epa/what-we-do/emergency-information-and-support>

Determining whether an imminent state of danger exists is likely to require the environmental auditor to exercise their professional judgment.

EPA may, however, provide specific guidance to environmental auditors when requested.

Examples of circumstances that may indicate an imminent state of danger could include (but are not limited to):

* pathogenic materials and waste, dangerous goods, radioactive substances, unexploded ordinance in an uncontrolled state that may be accessible
* highly flammable or explosive substances in vapour or soils in accessible scenarios that may result in fire or explosion e.g., methane above the lower explosive limit
* groundwater or surface water where it is known to be abstracted for drinking water purposes and/or reports of contaminant concentrations at levels that could pose an acute health risk
* contamination in drinking water service lines that may ingress into water supply, particularly where it has corrosive properties, or acute toxicity
* vapour intrusion leading to indoor air concentrations above levels that could pose an acute health risk
* occupants or users of the impacted area have reported ill health associated with the contamination
* absence of adequate spill containment (for example, bunding) beneath bulk liquid storage vessels in the immediate proximity of waters (including a stormwater drain), where there is a potential to cause a discharge that may have toxic impacts on aquatic life (for example, fish kills or similar impacts), or an impact on human health
* discharge (or a high risk of discharge) of any substance, including polluted groundwater, to surface waters at concentrations that may have toxic impacts on aquatic life (e.g., fish kills), or potential impacts on human health
* friable asbestos in an uncontrolled environment, such that there is a significant risk that asbestos fibres may be released to the air environment and present a risk to people either on-site or off-site.

If an environmental auditor considers an event to constitute an imminent state of danger, they should immediately inform EPA’s 24-hour Pollution Watch Line (1300 372 842) and as necessary Emergency services (000).

Environmental auditors will need to provide details of the situation that is or may result in an imminent state of danger at the time of this call. They will receive a follow up email acknowledging their call and requesting further information in writing on the notification situation.

This further information should include (as a minimum):

* the time and date that the imminent state of danger was identified and the location of the site
* details regarding the imminent state of danger
* recommended actions including time frames
* circumstances in which the imminent state of danger occurred, including the function the environmental auditor was performing at the time the environmental auditor was aware of this state.

The environmental auditor needs to provide this further information in an email to EPA, copying this email to the EPA State Duty Officer and the Manager Environmental Audit (reply email addresses will be provided in the response provided by EPA).

This requirement for environmental auditors to notify EPA also applies in relation to transitioned audits which are continuing to be conducted under the now superseded *Environment Protection Act 1970* after 1 July 2021, due to the operation of section 478(3)(b) in Part 16.4 of the current Environment Protection Act 2017.

## Duty to notify of contaminated land

Section 40 of the Act outlines the duty to notify of contaminated land. This duty applies to a person in control or management of land that has been contaminated by notifiable contamination. Whilst the environmental auditor is an independent party and would not be in control of management of the audit site, EPA expect that an environmental auditor would be familiar with the contaminated land duties. EPA considers it appropriate for the environmental auditor to advise the person in control or management of the land they are auditing if notifiable contamination is discovered as part of any function undertaken by the environmental auditor under the Act. Environmental auditors are expected to understand all of the below:

* s40 of the Act
* r13 of the Regulations
* EPA Publication 1977 *Guide to the duty to manage contaminated land*
* EPA Publication 2008 *Notifiable Contamination Guideline*.

# Quality assurance program

EPA conducts a quality assurance program to uphold the integrity of the environmental audit system in Victoria, undertaking quality reviews on samples of work undertaken by environmental auditors when carrying out statutory functions.

## Compliance with the Act

The quality assurance program may include an assessment of a sample of statements of environmental audits, certificates of environmental audit and environmental audit reports provided to EPA under transition clauses in the Act. Further information about transitioned audits is available in EPA Publication 1978 *Transition guidance for environmental auditors*.

EPA may seek an explanation when documentation submitted to EPA does not appear to comply with the relevant legislation or other statutory requirement or appears to contain an error or inconsistency.

It is a requirement that environmental auditors provide timely responses to EPA enquiries (i.e., within 10 business days) so that EPA’s reviews can be completed in a reasonable timeframe. The environmental auditor should inform the EPA personnel responsible for the query, in writing, if additional time is required to provide a response.

## Compliance with guidelines

The quality assurance program may include an assessment of samples of documentation received by EPA for compliance with the most recent version of:

* EPA Publication 2001 - *Guidance for the cleanup and management of contaminated groundwater*
* EPA Publication 2021 - *Guideline for conduct of preliminary risk screen assessments*
* EPA Publication 2022 - *Environmental auditor guidelines – Provision of statements and reports for environmental audits and preliminary risk screen assessments*
* EPA Publication 2041 - *Guidelines for conducting environmental audits*
* other relevant guidelines that may be published by EPA from time to time.

Documents submitted by environmental auditors may be assessed for compliance with relevant guidelines and may be selected for targeted detailed assessment:

* following identification of a potential issue by EPA during the initial processing of an environmental audit report or related documentation, or preliminary risk screen assessment report or related documentation
* where EPA has been notified of relevant concerns or issues (via one or more complaints or other means) about the environmental auditor’s work, documents produced or other relevant factors in accordance with section 12 of these guidelines
* by other means including random selection.

This assessment may include a desktop review of the relevant documentation submitted, a review of the procedures used in preparing the relevant document or verification of the conclusions of the assessment on which the relevant document is based.

The quality assurance program may include conducting a verification of the environmental status of a site subject to environmental audit.

If EPA considers that the environmental audit documentation or preliminary risk screen assessment documentation does not comply with relevant guidelines, the environmental auditor will be contacted to provide an explanation, and further action may be taken.

## Performance in statutory works under other Acts

EPA maintains channels of communication with relevant government agencies to enable EPA to be notified of any issues regarding an environmental auditor’s conduct and performance in carrying out their statutory functions under any other Act.

EPA will investigate any relevant notified issues. EPA may require the environmental auditor to clarify or explain the issue or to provide copies of relevant documents for assessment. If the environmental auditor’s response fails to address the issue to the satisfaction of EPA, EPA may commence a review of appointment in accordance with section 12 of these guidelines.

# Complaints and environmental auditor appointment reviews

Where EPA receives a complaint about the conduct of an environmental auditor, EPA will take steps to:

1. thoroughly review the complaint and if needed seek further information from the complainant
2. notify the environmental auditor that a complaint has been received
3. where EPA believes that there are insufficient grounds to warrant an investigation, inform the complainant and the environmental auditor that no further action will be taken and the reasons for that decision
4. where EPA believes that there are grounds to warrant an investigation, notify the environmental auditor that an investigation has commenced and invite a submission from the environmental auditor to respond to the allegations
5. prepare an assessment of the complaint taking into consideration any submissions received in relation to the complaint
6. make recommendation(s) regarding the complaint, including any recommended further action (if applicable)
7. make a decision in relation to the complaint
8. reply to all parties outlining the outcome of the investigation.

EPA will seek to resolve complaints within three months of initially receiving them. EPA’s decision in relation to the complaint will be communicated to both the environmental auditor and the complainant.

In the event of a significant complaint, breach of EPA guidelines, the Act, the Regulations or one or more conditions of appointment, EPA may consider suspending or revoking the environmental auditor’s appointment.

Where EPA receives notification or otherwise becomes aware of criminal action, such as corruption, EPA may instigate an investigation without undertaking the complaint or review process in accordance with sections 12 of these guidelines.

## Overview of review(s) processes

The following provides an overview of the processes undertaken by EPA to review environmental auditor appointments. EPA must have regards to matters set out in s 201 of the Act when deciding to suspend or revoke the appointment of an environmental auditor.

EPA may conduct an investigation to determine whether a substantiated complaint has been made or further information is needed to determine issues that EPA becomes aware of in relation to an environmental auditor. The investigation may involve EPA seeking to obtain the views of relevant parties, including the environmental auditor. EPA will notify the environmental auditor and other relevant parties (including any complainants) in writing of its intention to undertake an investigation and the reasons for it.

If an investigation indicates that a substantive issue is present, further action may be taken. EPA will review all the available information about the complaint or issue, including any extenuating circumstances, and assess the information against the factors referred to in section 200 of the Act. EPA will notify an environmental auditor in writing of its intention to, and reasons for, initiating this assessment.

EPA will seek to notify the environmental auditor in writing of the outcome of this process.

# Contact details and further information

For further information please contact:

EPA’s Environmental Audit Unit

[environmental.audit@epa.vic.gov.au](mailto:environmental.audit@epa.vic.gov.au)

EPA Customer Service

Level 3, 200 Victoria Street

Carlton, Victoria 3053

1300 372 842

EPA website

[epa.vic.gov.au](http://www.epa.vic.gov.au)

EPA’s 24-hour Pollution Watch Line

1300 372 842

# Appendix A – Requirements for contaminated land category

This appendix lists the areas of expertise required to fulfill the role of an environmental auditor for the contaminated land category.

Detail on the list of requirements listed below, can be found at Appendix D.

The environmental auditor is expected to have strong working knowledge in all areas listed but can rely on support from an expert support team. Mandatory requirements which the applicant must meet in their own right is listed below in **bold**. Environmental auditors must also note other matters that the EPA will consider at section 4.4 and further information on required expertise in [Appendix D](#_Appendix_D_–).

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| Auditor Category | Required area of expertise – Technical |
| Contaminated Land | * **assessment from contaminated land or industrial and other contaminating facilities** * **contaminant fate and transport** * **assessing and understanding risks to the environment and human health** * environmental chemistry * environmental toxicology / ecotoxicology and risk assessment * geology * human toxicology and risk assessment * hydrogeology * **ability to identify contaminants of concern from current or past land uses** * remedial technologies and geotechnology * **collection and interpretation of analytical data for a variety of media** * soil science * statutory and strategic land use planning * waste management |

| Auditor Category | Required area of expertise – Legislative Framework |
| --- | --- |
| Contaminated Land | * *Environment Protection Act 2017 (Vic)* * *Environment Protection Regulations 2021 (Vic)* * *Environment Reference Standard*   *Guidelines issued under Section 203 of the Act:*   * *EPA Publication 865: Environmental auditor guidelines for appointment and conduct* * *EPA Publication 2001: Clean up and management of contaminated groundwater* * *EPA Publication 2022: Environmental auditor guidelines – Provision of statements and reports for environmental audits and preliminary risk screen assessments* * *EPA Publication 2041: Guidelines for conducting environmental audits*   *EPA publications:*   * *EPA Publication 668: Hydrogeological Assessment (Groundwater Quality) Guidelines* * *EPA Publication 669: Groundwater Sampling Guidelines* * *EPA Publication 788: Siting, design, operation and rehabilitation of landfills* * *EPA Publication 865: Environmental auditor guidelines for appointment and conduct* * *EPA Publication 1490: Closed landfill guidelines* * *EPA Publication 1827.2: Waste classification assessment protocol* * *EPA Publication 1828.2: Waste disposal categories – characteristics and thresholds* * *EPA Publication 1856: Reasonably practicable* * *EPA Publication 1915: Contaminated land policy* * *EPA Publication 1936: Proposed methodology for deriving background level concentration when assessing potentially contaminated land* * *EPA Publication 1940: Contaminated land: Understanding section 35 of the Environment Protection Act 2017* * *EPA Publication 1946.1: How to establish lawful place* * *EPA Publication 1961: Guideline for assessing and minimising pollution* * *EPA Publication 1968.1: Guide to classifying industrial waste* * *EPA Publication 1977.1: Guide to the duty to manage contaminated land* * *EPA Publication 1992: Guide to the Environment Reference Standard* * *EPA Publication 2008.2: Guide to the duty to notify of contaminated land* * *EPA Publication 2010: Potentially contaminated land – A guide for business* * *EPA publication 2033: Background Levels Methodology guidance*   *Other key guidelines:*   * *Vic Gov Gazette S301: EPA Determination – Specifications acceptable to EPA for receiving fill material.* * *Australian & New Zealand Guidelines for fresh & Marine Water quality.* * *crcCARE: National Remediation Framework* * *Industrial Waste Resource Guidelines (IWRG) 701: Sampling and analysis of waters, wastewaters, soils and wastes* * *Industrial Waste Resource Guidelines (IWRG) 702* * *Ministerial Direction No. 1 under Section 12(1A) of the Planning and Environment Act 1987* * *National Environment Protection (Assessment of Site Contamination) Measure (NEPM (ASC))* * *PFAS National Environmental Management Plan (PFAS NEMP)* * *Planning Practice Note 30 - Potentially contaminated land* * *Other international guidelines or reference standards where appropriate* |

# Appendix B – Requirements for industrial facilities category

This section details the specific criteria that will be used to assess applicants for appointment to the Industrial Facilities Category of environmental auditor. These criteria are additional to the general criteria detailed in section 4 of these guidelines.

The applicant must be able to demonstrate extensive experience and a high level of expertise in all the following core competencies:

industrial processes

industrial waste management and waste minimisation strategies

environmental management systems.

Requirements for the industrial facilities category are currently under review and development and will be published to coincide with the next application intake.

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| Auditor Category | Required area of expertise - Technical |
| Industrial Facilities | *• air quality*  *• assessment of impacts on groundwater from contaminated*  *sites or industrial facilities*  *• corporate/governance environmental performance and*  *reporting*  *• energy auditing*  *• environmental chemistry*  *• freshwater science*  *• human health and ecological risk assessment*  *• hydrogeology*  *• marine water science*  *• noise*  *• pollution control equipment and strategies*  *• sampling and interpretation of analytical data for a variety of*  *media*  *• soil science*  *• statutory and environmental planning* |

# Appendix C – Requirements for other categories

This section details the specific criteria that will be used to assess applicants for appointment to the Natural Resources Category of environmental auditor. These criteria are additional to the general criteria detailed in section 4 of these guidelines.

The applicant must be able to demonstrate extensive experience and a broad level of knowledge in all the following core areas:

legal and institutional frameworks, including codes of practice, used in the management of Victoria’s natural resources (for example water, land and ecosystems)

(ii) environmental management; practices, processes, planning and systems

composition, maintenance and protection of Victoria’s biodiversity

(iv) sampling and interpretation of analytical data for relevant environmental applications

(v) natural events and land and water uses and their potential impacts on natural resource and ecosystem condition and processes.

EPA are currently undertaking a review to explore the needs and requirements for natural resource audits and if there is a need for further categories. This review is expected to be completed 2024-25. Further information will be provided to environmental auditors once this work progresses.

|  |  |
| --- | --- |
| Auditor Category | Required area of expertise - Technical |
| Natural Resources | • aquatic ecology  • environmental chemistry  • environmental modelling  • fluvial geomorphology  • freshwater science  • hydrogeology  • marine water science  • soil science  • terrestrial ecology |

# Appendix D – Expertise required for contaminated land

This list details the skill and knowledge requirements for the contaminated land category. If you are applying to be appointed to the contaminated land category, you will need to refer to the summary in Appendix A, and then the more detailed information for the relevant skills and experience in this appendix.

Applicants may rely on the use of expert support teams in meeting these requirements, however they are still expected to have a working knowledge of the requirements that they might rely on the expert support team for assistance.

|  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
| Area of Expertise | Description of Experience | Qualifications not limited to bachelor or higher degree | Examples of Professional Associations and Certifications |
| Assessment of contaminated land and other contaminating facilities  *Ability to assess contaminated land and extend investigation / interpretation to potential groundwater contamination.* | * Contaminated land including those with a wide range of previous uses i.e., industrial, petroleum industry, greenfield, etc. * Understanding of soil/groundwater/soil vapour/NAPL interaction. * Understanding of groundwater well installation, well construction, groundwater gauging and sampling. * Understanding of soil vapour bore installation, construction and sampling * Assessing fate and transport of contaminants * Understanding of chemical behaviours in the subsurface. * Understanding of emerging contaminants. * Understanding the up-to-date technologies in assessing contamination | Engineering (Geological, Chemical, Environmental)  Science/Applied Science (Chemistry, Geology, Geography,  Environmental Science) or other suitably relevant degree | Australasian Land and Groundwater Association (ALGA)  Certified Environmental Practitioner  Certified Practicing Engineer  International Association of Hydrogeologists (IAH) |

|  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
| Area of Expertise | Description of Experience | Qualifications not limited to bachelor or higher degree | Examples of professional associations and certifications |
| Contaminant fate and transport  *Ability to assess the impact posed by activities or contaminants identified onto human health and the environment through contaminant transport and exposure pathways assessment to all segments of the environment.* | * Assessment and management of contaminated land and groundwater in the context of a contaminated land assessment/audit. * Multiple contaminant types, assessment methods (refer to next point), geology and hydrogeology. * Soil, groundwater, surface water and soil vapour sampling design and method. * Broad understanding in the areas of environmental chemistry, soil science, hydrogeology, human health and ecological risk assessment (as noted above). * Modelling. * Understanding of contaminant transformations. | Science/Applied Science (Environmental, Toxicology, Biochemistry, or related discipline). | Association for Environmental Hydrology  Australian Society Soil Science Incorporated (ASSSI)  International Association of Hydrogeologists (IAH)  National Groundwater Association  Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) |

|  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
| Area of Expertise | Description of Experience | Qualifications not limited to bachelor or higher degree | Examples of professional associations and certifications |
| Environmental chemistry  *Ability to develop and implement analytical sampling programs for the purposes of environmental site assessments.*  *Review and interpretation of analytical laboratory data.*  *Fate and transport of chemicals in the environment and chemical speciation.*  *Demonstrated experience in at least two pollution emissions such as air, noise, soil, groundwater.* | * Detailed understanding of relevant sampling and testing guidelines (chemical and biological). * Design and conduct of sampling and testing. * Fate and transport of chemicals in the environment. * Chemical speciation in the environment. * Data interpretation including quality assurance and quality control, statistical analysis of data, etc. * Robust conceptual site modelling * Multiple contaminant types and assessment methods. * Identification and management of pollution inputs (for example, industrial wastewater, stormwater, soil wastes and sludge). | Engineering (Chemical, Environmental)  Science/Applied Science (Environment, chemistry or related discipline) | National Association of Testing Authorities (NATA)  Clean Air Society of Australia and New Zealand  Royal Australian Chemical Institute (RACI)  Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC)  American Society for Testing and Materials  Association of Professional Engineers, Scientists and Managers |

| Area of Expertise | Description of Experience | Qualifications not limited to bachelor or higher degree | Examples of professional associations and certifications |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
| Environmental toxicology / ecotoxicology and risk assessment  *Ability to assess ecological hazards posed by various chemicals, biological and physical agents on living organisms. This is to enable an assessment of ecological risks.* | **Toxicology**   * Evaluation of ecotoxicological data and dose-response information. * Assessing the ecological hazards posed by various chemicals, and identification of gaps in the science regarding a particular chemical.   **Ecological Risk Assessment**  Application of risk-based approach for assessment and management of contaminated land, including the following:   * Conduct of ecological risk assessment in the context of a contaminated land assessment/audit. * Understanding of relevant guidance documents for ecological risk assessment (for example, PFAS NEMP as well as international publications). * Interpretation of findings from complex environmental investigations and ability to provide recommendations for further investigations. * Conduct of exposure assessment including the use of computational approaches and modelling for multi-pathway exposure. * Conduct of characterisation or interpretation of site-specific risk profiles. * Derivation of site-specific risk-based criteria for contaminants in various media (i.e., soil, groundwater, surface water, vapour / gas). * Multiple contaminant types and geological/hydrogeological settings are highly preferable. * Ability to construct or evaluate detailed or complex risk assessment models (for example, fate and transport, plant / biota uptake, food web etc). * Detailed understanding of exposure routes and pathways with respect to the derivation of site-specific guidelines values. * Development of conceptual site models to support ecological risk assessment. * Impacts of soil contamination on plants. * Impacts of soil and groundwater contamination on surface water. | Science/ Applied Science (Environmental Toxicology, Toxicology, Biochemistry, or related discipline)  Engineering (in related discipline) | Australian College of Toxicology and Risk Assessment (ACTRA) (*Registration*)  Australasian Society of Clinical and Experimental Pharmacologists and Toxicologists  Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC)  International Board of Environmental Risk Assessors (IBERA) |

|  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
| Area of Expertise | Description of Experience | Qualifications not limited to bachelor or higher degree | Examples of professional associations and certifications |
| Geology  *Ability to assess the geology of a site with respect to potential for contamination and the migration of contamination through soil and rock.* | * Geology investigations for the purposes of environmental assessment (geotechnical experience would also be considered beneficial). * Geology in the Victorian region. * Understanding of geochemistry. * Understanding of weathering. * Understanding of structural geology * Understanding of geophysical techniques and outcomes. | Science/ Applied Science (Geology, Engineering Geology, Earth science)  Engineering (Geological, Environmental) | Australian Institute of Geologists  Australasian Land and Groundwater Association (ALGA) |

| Area of Expertise | Description of Experience | Qualifications not limited to bachelor or higher degree | Examples of professional associations and certifications |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
| Human toxicology and risk assessment  *Ability to assess health hazards posed by various chemicals, biological and physical agents to humans. This is to enable an assessment of risk to human health.* | * Understanding of the main concepts of risk assessments such tier 1 -3 Human Health Risk Assessments (HHRA), toxicology and source pathway receptor model. * Essential to have expert support of items in the desirable experience requirements.   **Toxicology**   * Evaluation of toxicity data and dose-response information. * Assessing the health hazards posed by various chemicals and identification of gaps in the science regarding a particular chemical.   **Health Risk Assessment**  Experience in the application of risk-based approach for assessment and management of contaminated land, including the following:   * Conduct of tiered human health risk assessments (1-3) in the context of a contaminated land assessment/audit. * Understanding of relevant guidance documents for human health risk assessment (for example, NEPM and enHeaIth, as well as international publications). * Interpretation of findings from complex environmental investigations and ability to provide recommendations for further investigations. * Conduct of exposure assessment including the use of computational approaches and modelling for multi-pathway exposure. * Conduct of characterisation or interpretation of site-specific risk profiles. * Derivation of site-specific risk-based criteria for contaminants in various media (i.e., soil, gas / vapour, groundwater, surface water). * Multiple contaminant types and geological/hydrogeological settings are highly preferable. * Ability to construct or evaluate detailed or complex risk assessment models (for example fate and transport, vapour intrusion, etc.). * Detailed understanding of exposure routes and pathways with respect to the derivation of site-specific guidelines values. | Science/Applied Science (Environmental, Toxicology, Biochemistry, or related discipline) | Australian College of Toxicology and Risk Assessment (ACTRA) (*Registration*)  Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC) |

|  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
| Area of Expertise | Description of Experience | Qualifications not limited to bachelor or higher degree | Examples of professional associations and certifications |
| Hydrogeology  *Ability to investigate and assess groundwater conditions, including well design and installation and sampling.*  *Ability to develop detailed and complex conceptual hydrogeological models.* | * Detailed understanding of the Environment Reference Standard 2021, ANZG guidelines. NEPM and relevant EPA guidelines. * Development of detailed and complex conceptual hydrogeological models. * Assessment and understanding of various aquifer parameters, properties, chemistry and dependent ecosystems. * Quantification of aquifer hydraulic parameters. including hydraulic and pump testing and analysis. * Groundwater well design and installation (using multiple techniques). * Groundwater sampling (using multiple techniques).   Assessment and/or remediation of contaminated groundwater (including assessment of natural attenuation of petroleum hydrocarbons and chlorinated solvents.)   * Multiple contaminant types and hydrogeological settings preferable. Less weight is given to salinity and resource-based experience (but some experience preferred). * Groundwater contaminant plume modelling (including fate and transport). | Science/Applied Science (Hydrogeology, Geology, or related discipline) | Association for Environmental Hydrology  Australian Institute of Geoscientists  Australasian Land and Groundwater Association  International Association of Hydrogeologists (IAH)  National Groundwater Association |

|  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
| Area of Expertise | Description of Experience | Qualifications not limited to bachelor or higher degree | Examples of professional associations and certifications |
| Ability to identify contaminants of potential concern from current or past land uses. | * Contaminated land investigations involving soil, soil vapour and groundwater across a wide range of industrial activities and other potentially contaminating land use activities. * Undertaking historical site assessments. * Understanding of changes in contaminant phases * Knowledge in industrial plant processes and mechanisms. | Engineering (Chemical, Environmental)  Science/Applied Science (Chemistry, Geology, Geography, Environmental Science)  Any other relevant qualifications or experience | Australian Contaminated Land Consultants Association (ACLA)  Australasian Land and Groundwater Association (ALGA)  Certified Environmental Practitioner  Certified Practicing Engineer  Geological Society of Australia  Institute of Chemical Engineers  International Association of Hydrogeologists (IAH) |

|  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
| Area of Expertise | * Description of Experience | Qualifications not limited to bachelor or higher degree | Examples of professional associations and certifications |
| Remedial technologies and geotechnology  *Experience in remediation of contaminated land and groundwater including design, construction, and performance monitoring.* | * Remediation of contaminated land and groundwater in the context of a contaminated land assessment/environmental audit. * Design, construction and performance monitoring of remediation systems is preferred. * Remediation of multiple contaminant types, remediation methods, and different geological and hydrogeological settings. * Geotechnology and engineering techniques and the application in the design and operation of remediation systems. * Remediation feasibility/options assessment and comparison of sustainability of remedial options. * An understanding of AS ISO 18504:2022 and relevant guidance from organisations such as crc CARE and IRTC. | Engineering (Chemical, Civil, Mechanical, Geological)  Science/Applied Science (Chemistry, Environmental, Hydrogeology, Geology) | Australian Contaminated Land Consultants Association  Australasian Land and Groundwater Association  Certified Environmental Practitioner  Certified Practicing Engineer  Engineers Australia  Institution of Chemical Engineers  International Association of Hydrogeologists (IAH) |

|  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
| Area of Expertise | Description of Experience | Qualifications not limited to bachelor or higher degree | Examples of professional associations and certifications |
| Collection and interpretation of analytical data for a variety of media  *Detailed understanding of relevant sampling and testing guidelines.*  *Design and conduct of sampling and testing and data interpretation.* | * Detailed understanding of relevant sampling and testing guidelines for at least three of the following: soil, sediment, groundwater, surface water, marine water, gas / vapour, air (including odour), noise. * Design and conduct of sampling and testing for at least three of the following: soil, sediment, groundwater, surface water, marine water, gas / vapour, air (including odour), noise. * Data interpretation including quality assurance and quality control, statistical analysis of data, etc. * Multiple contaminant types and assessment methods. | Engineering (Chemical, Environmental)  Science/Applied Science (Agricultural, Chemistry, Ecology, Biochemistry, Environmental, Hydrogeology and Geology) | Clean Air Society of Australia and New Zealand  Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry (SETAC)  The Royal Australian Chemical Institute |

|  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
| Area of Expertise | Description of Experience | Qualifications not limited to bachelor or higher degree | Examples of professional associations and certifications |
| Soil science  *Understanding soil chemistry, soil properties, assessment of soil contamination and its impact upon flora and fauna associated with that element.*  *Understanding of natural and background concentrations of metals/analytes in the environment.* | * Detailed understanding of the relevant standards and guidelines. * Contaminated land site assessment, sampling design and method. * Understanding of how physical and chemical properties of soil influence contaminant fate, transport and exposure * Detailed understanding of soil chemistry and soil properties including the following: * soil formation (i.e., mineralogy, physical and chemical composition) * classification/properties * biological properties of soils * fertility properties of soils * natural vs. anthropogenic chemical concentrations. | Science/ Applied Science (Soil Science, Agriculture or related discipline) | Australian Institute of Agricultural Science and Technology  Australasian Land and Groundwater Association (ALGA)  Certified Professional Soil Scientist – Soil Science Australia (SSA) |

|  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
| Area of Expertise | Description of Experience | Qualifications not limited to bachelor or higher degree | Examples of professional associations and certifications |
| Statutory and strategic land use planning  *Knowledge of law and associated processes in relation to environment and land use planning* | * Interacting with Victoria’s planning system with specific experience in addressing contaminated land through the planning system. * Strong understanding of relevant local, state and Commonwealth legislation, policies and guidance. * A strong understanding of Ministerial Directions No. 1 and 19 and relevant guidance from the planning authority. | **(Desirable)** Urban and Regional Planning, Environments, Environmental Science, Geography, Public Policy or Transportation | Certified Environmental Practitioner  Environmental Institute of Australia and New Zealand (EIANZ)  Planning Institute of Australia (PIA),  Victorian Planning and Environmental Law Association (VPELA) |

|  |  |  |  |
| --- | --- | --- | --- |
| Area of Expertise | Description of Experience | Qualifications not limited to bachelor or higher degree | Examples of professional associations and certifications |
| Waste management  *Knowledge of law, policies and best practice processes in relation to waste* | * Strong understanding of and interaction with the industrial waste duties under the *Environment Protection Act 2017* and all relevant EPA waste policies and guidance * Understanding of best practice waste management processes. | Environmental engineering or similar (i.e., hydrogeology) | Waste Management Association of Australia  Victorian Waste Management Association |

# Appendix E – Expertise required for industrial facilities

The applicant must demonstrate experience and expertise in at least two of the following areas and demonstrate access to expertise in all other areas:

* 1. air quality
  2. corporate/governance environmental performance and reporting
  3. energy auditing
  4. environmental chemistry
  5. environmental risk assessment
  6. freshwater science Environmental auditor guidelines for appointment and conduct
  7. human health and ecological risk assessment
  8. hydrogeology
  9. marine water science
  10. noise
  11. pollution control equipment and strategies
  12. sampling and interpretation of analytical data for a variety of media
  13. soil science
  14. statutory and environmental planning

Note: Nominated experts will make up the environmental auditor’s expert support team. The applicant must be able to demonstrate an understanding of: (i) Environmental Management Systems – Requirements with Guidance for Use (AS/NZS ISO 14001: 2015)

* 1. Guidelines for Quality and/or Environmental Management Systems Auditing (AS/NZS ISO 19011: 2019).

Requirements for the industrial facilities expertise are currently under review and development and will be published to coincide with the next application intake.

Accessibility

Contact us if you need this information in an accessible format such as large print or audio.   
Please telephone 1300 372 842 or email [contact@epa.vic.gov.au](mailto:contact@epa.vic.gov.au)

Interpreter assistance



If you need interpreter assistance or want this document translated, please call 131 450 and advise your preferred language. If you are deaf, or have a hearing or speech impairment, contact us through the National Relay Service.



[](https://twitter.com/EPA_Victoria) [](https://www.facebook.com/EPAVictoria) [](https://www.linkedin.com/company/epa---victoria/) [](http://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTH9sYvphkFxGlAsIyTecJQ)

[epa.vic.gov.au](https://www.epa.vic.gov.au/)

Environment Protection Authority Victoria

GPO BOX 4395 Melbourne VIC 3001

1300 372 842



Authorised and published by the Victorian Government, 1 Treasury Place, Melbourne

1. ‘Other Act’ means legislation other than the Act, for example, the *Port Management Act 1995* and the *Mineral Resources (Sustainable Development) Act 1990*. [↑](#footnote-ref-2)
2. Section 271, 272, 273 and 274 of the Act refers to Improvement Notices, Prohibition Notices, Notice to Investigate and Environmental Action Notices issued by EPA, respectively. [↑](#footnote-ref-3)
3. Section 275 of the Act refers to Site Management Orders issued by EPA [↑](#footnote-ref-4)
4. Section 191(3)(c) of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-5)
5. Examples of ‘audit like work’ include but are not limited to providing a supporting role to an environmental auditor, review of technical reports or a quality assurance function [↑](#footnote-ref-6)
6. Section 235(3) of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-7)
7. Section 235(8) of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-8)
8. Section 191 of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-9)
9. Section 196(2) of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-10)
10. Section 197(2) [↑](#footnote-ref-11)
11. Section 195(3) of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-12)
12. Section 194 of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-13)
13. Section 194(2) of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-14)
14. EPA may request a copy of such reports [↑](#footnote-ref-15)
15. Section 199(3) of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-16)
16. Section 199(10) of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-17)
17. “state” includes the Australian Capital Territory or Northern Territory. [↑](#footnote-ref-18)
18. Section 200(3) of the Act describes that EPA must not suspend or revoke the appointment of an environmental auditor under S203(1)(h)(iii) of the Act, if the preliminary risk screen assessment or the environmental audit was conducted in accordance with guidelines issued under section 203 or with the approval of EPA [↑](#footnote-ref-19)
19. Section 201(3) of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-20)
20. Section 201(4) of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-21)
21. Section 200(2) of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-22)
22. Section 209 of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-23)
23. Section 208(3) of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-24)
24. Section 210(2) of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-25)
25. Section 205(2) of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-26)
26. As outlined in s190 of the Act [↑](#footnote-ref-27)
27. The fact a person may be appointed as an environmental auditor can be used in marketing material, but it should be clear when a signature is or is not a sign-off of an audit by an auditor [↑](#footnote-ref-28)
28. EPA must not suspend or revoke an appointment due to Section 200(1)(h)(iii) if the auditor was conducting the work in accordance with guidelines issued under s203 [↑](#footnote-ref-29)